IN THE SUPREME COURT STATE OF FLORIDA

YOLANDA G. MINAGORRI,

Petitioner,

Sup. Ct. Case No: SC07-1171 vs. D.C.A. Case No: 3D06-3015 Cir. Ct. Case No: 00-293-CA

ARCHDIOCESE OF MIAMI, INC.

Respondent.		
		/

PETITIONER'S JURISDICTIONAL BRIEF

On Appeal from the District Court of Appeal, Third District.

Eddy O. Marban

Fla. Bar No. 435960

The Law Offices

of Eddy O. Marban

George T. Reeves

Fla. Bar No. 0009407

Davis, Schnitker, Reeves & Browning, P.A.

Ocean Bank Building, Suite 350

782 N.W. LeJune Road

Post Office Drawer 652

Madison, Florida 32341

Miami, Florida 33126 Telephone: (850) 973-4186 Telephone: (305) 448-9292 Facsimile: (850) 973-8564

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

The Petitioner, YOLANDA G. MINAGORRI, will be referred to in this brief as "MINAGORRI". The Respondent, ARCHDIOCESE OF MIAMI, INC., will be referred to in this brief as the "ARCHDIOCESE". Citations to the appendix of this brief shall be made as follows: (Appendix at ____)

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

MINAGORRI, was previously employed by the ACHDIOCESE, as the principal of St. Kevin Catholic High School. (Appendix at 2) The parties agree that MINAGORRI was a ministerial employee. (Appendix at 2) MINAGORRI asserts that she was physically and verbally assaulted by the Priest, who was her immediate supervisor. (Appendix at 2) MINAGORRI further asserts that when she complained of the alleged assault to the ARCHDIOCESE, she was terminated. (Appendix at 2) As the lower court explains:

In count II of her four count complaint, Miñagorri makes a Private Sector Whistleblower Act claim under section 448.102(3), which prohibits employers from taking retaliatory action against employees who object to or refuse to participate in activities, policies or practices of the employer which are "in violation of a law, rule, or regulation." § 448.102(3), Fla. Stat. (2006).

(Appendix at 2)

The district court then found that the consideration of the claim by the court

would result in the excessive entanglement of the court in religious doctrine and found that the First Amendment of the United States Constitution deprived the circuit court of jurisdiction to hear the action. (Appendix at 8) The opinion of the district court is reported at *Archdiocese of Miami, Inc. v. Miñagorri*, 954 So.2d 640 (Fla. 3d DCA 2007)

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The decision of the district court expressly construed the First Amendment of the federal constitution to deprive the circuit court of jurisdiction to determine a whistleblower claim by a ministerial employee. The basis for the claim was that the religious institution had retaliated against the ministerial employee for reporting and objecting to a criminal assault and battery by the employee's immediate supervisor. This application of the ministerial exception to whistleblower claims has no prior precedent in Florida decisional law. Further, this decision has significant public policy ramifications, as it effectively allows a religious employer to punish its ministerial employees for resisting or reporting criminal acts.

Finally, the district court's decision is in direct conflict with this court's opinion in *Maliki v. Doe*, 814 So.2d 347 (Fla. 2002), where this court held that the

¹This action was a petition for a writ of prohibition. The district court granted relief but

State had a compelling interest and thus was not prohibited by the ministerial exception from interfering with the church's selection of clerics where criminal conduct was involved.

Thus MINAGORRI contends that this court should accept jurisdiction and give its construction to the First Amendment of the federal constitution in this instance and overrule te decision of the district court as not in compliance with *Maliki*, *supra*.

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

The Florida Supreme Court has discretionary jurisdiction to review a decision of the district court of appeal that expressly construes a provision of the State or Federal constitution. Art. V, § 3(b)(3), Fla.Const.; Fla.R.App.P. 9.030(a)(2)(A)(ii) Further this court has discretionary jurisdiction to review a decision of the district court of appeal that expressly and directly conflicts with the a decision of the supreme court or another district court of appeal on the same point of law. Art. V, § 3(b)(3), Fla.Const.; Fla.R.App.P. 9.030(a)(2)(A)(iv)

ARGUMENT

I.

THE DECISION OF THE DISTRICT COURT IN THIS CASE EXPRESSLY CONSTRUES A PROVISION OF THE FEDERAL CONSTITUTION.

The district court in this case determined that the circuit court lacked jurisdiction to consider MINAGGORRI's private sector whistleblower claim under the ministerial exception of the First Amendment of the United States Constitution. The ministerial exception is usually applied in cases where the action of the religious institution is challenged based on traditional employment related statutes such as Title VII, the Americans With Disabilities Act, etc. In this case though the district court applied the ministerial exception to deprive the circuit court of jurisdiction to determine a private sector whistleblower claim based on the assertion that the religious employer retaliated against the employee for reporting and resisting criminal assault and battery.

The only case discovered by the undersigned which has specifically addressed the issue of whether a whistleblower claim against a religious institution, based on allegedly criminal conduct, is barred under the First Amendment is the case of *Maruani v. AER Services, Inc.*, 2006 WL 2666302, 99 Fair Empl.Prac.Cas. (BNA) 561, 25 IER Cases 143 (D.Minn 2006). In *Maruani*, the court considered

whether a whistleblowers claim by a Kosher butcher would be dismissed where the employer asserted that the Kosher butcher was terminated for failing to follow orthodox jewish law and was not "god fearing in the public eye". *Maruani*, at 2-3. The Kosher butcher claimed that he was terminated for, among other things, refusing to participate in an illegal scheme to recruit illegal aliens as workers and launder money with which to pay them. *Maruani*, at 3. The court found that:

Clearly, the state regulations at issue, namely providing protection for workers compensation filers and whistleblowers is compelling. AER does not contend that this is not a legitimate state interest.

* *

[T]he Court acknowledges that even a "limited judicial review of a discharge decision places some burden on [defendant] and raises the possibility that the court will inquire into religious doctrine." However, the mere possibility of a burden on AER's religious beliefs does not outweigh the compelling state interests in protecting workers compensation claimants and whistleblowers under this particular set of facts.

Maruani, at 10.

It is this same compelling state interest that weighs in favor of this court exercising its discretionary jurisdiction and determining the significant constitutional issue of whether the First Amendment prohibits the State of Florida from protecting ministerial employees from retaliation for reporting and resisting criminal acts.

THE DECISION OF THE DISTRICT COURT IN THIS CASE EXPRESSLY AND DIRECTLY CONFLICTS WITH THE DECISION OF THIS COURT IN *MALIKI V. DOE*, 814 SO.2D 347 (FLA. 2002) AND *DOE V. EVANS*, 814 SO.2D 370 (FLA. 2002)

This court has previously considered the interplay of the criminal laws with the ministerial exception. In *Maliki v. Doe*, 814 So.2d 347 (Fla. 2002) the court quoted the opinion of the Fourth District Court in *Doe v. Evans*, 718 So.2d 286 (Fla. 4th DCA 1998) as:

[W]e are persuaded that just as the State may prevent a church from offering human sacrifices,² it may protect its children against injuries caused by pedophiles by authorizing civil damages against a church that knowingly (including should know) creates a situation in which such injuries are likely to occur. We recognize that the State's interest must be compelling indeed in order to interfere in the church's selection, training and assignment of its clerics. We would draw the line at criminal conduct.

Doe v. Evans, 718 So.2d 286, 289 (Fla. 4th DCA 1998)

This court then went on and rejected the above statement of law as being too low of a standard.

[W]e reject the distinction that the Fourth District drew in *Evans*, 718 So.2d at 289-90, that would apparently allow a negligent supervision

²This example demonstrates the absurdity of the district court's decision, under this decision, should a minster object to the offering of human sacrifices as illegal, the church could fire the minster and be totally protected from all legal consequences under the ministerial exception.

claim against a church defendant only if the underlying sexual misconduct involved criminal activity (e.g., sexual assault and battery, as in this case). As the United States Supreme Court explained in *Lukumi Babalu Aye* and *Smith*, strict scrutiny will not be triggered by neutral laws of general applicability that are not intended to "infringe upon or restrict practices because of their religious motivation." *Lukumi Babalu Aye*, 508 U.S. at 533, 113 S.Ct. 2217; *see Smith*, 494 U.S. at 884-85, 110 S.Ct. 1595. Moreover, this "neutral principles of law" doctrine applies in both the criminal and the civil context.

Maliki, t 364.

See also, *Doe v. Evans*, 814 So.2d 370, 373 (Fla. 2002)

As both *Maliki*, and *Evans*, reject requirement that the conduct involve criminal activity as too low of a standard it is beyond dispute that conduct involving criminal activity is outside the ministerial exception. Again, strong public policy considerations weigh in favor of this court exercising its discretionary jurisdiction and determining the significant constitutional issue of whether the First Amendment prohibits the State of Florida from protecting ministerial employees from retaliation for reporting and resisting criminal acts.

CONCLUSION

This court has discretionary jurisdiction to review the decision of the below, and the court should exercise that jurisdiction to consider the merits of the petitioner's argument.