IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC07-1171

LOWER TRIBUNAL CASE NO.: 3D06-3015

Yolanda Miñagorri,	
Petitioner,	
vs.	
Archdiocese of Miami, Inc.,	
Respondent.	/

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON JURISDICTION

Roberto J. Diaz, Esq.
Maura Fitzgerald Jennings, Esq.
J. PATRICK FITZGERALD & ASSOCIATES, P.A.
Attorneys for Respondent
110 Merrick Way, Suite 3-B
Coral Gables, FL 33134
Telephone (305) 443-9162
Telefax (305) 443-6613

II. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Supreme Court's constitutional jurisdiction is limited to reviewing appellate court decisions that "expressly construe a provision of the state or federal constitution." Fla. Const. art. V, § 3(b)(3). The Third District did not construe a constitutional provision, but rather merely applied longstanding constitutional principles to the facts of this case and did not take the "evolutionary step" necessary to invoke this Court's limited, discretionary jurisdiction. In addition, the Supreme Court's conflict jurisdiction is limited to reviewing appellate court decisions that "expressly and directly conflict with a decision . . . of the Supreme Court on the same question of law." Fla. Const. art. V, § 3(b)(3). Here, the District Court's

decision is consistent with this Court's prior case law. Thus, Petitioner's request for further review should be denied.

III. ARGUMENT

A. <u>Petitioner's Attempt To Invoke This Court's Limited Discretionary</u> <u>Jurisdiction Is Unfounded And Should Be Rejected.</u>

The Third District Court of Appeal did not expressly construe the federal constitution and therefore this Court's limited, discretionary jurisdiction is unwarranted. Indeed, a cursory review of the appellate court's opinion establishes that it did not *construe* the First Amendment, but merely applied well-settled federal and state case law to the facts of this case.

The Florida Constitution is clear. In order to fall within the Supreme Court's constitutional jurisdiction, the appellate court's decision must "expressly construe a provision of the state or federal constitution." Fla. Const. art. V, § 3(b)(3); Fla. R. App. P. 9.030(a)(2)(A)(ii). Absent an **express** construction, there is simply no basis for review. *See id*.

The mere application of constitutional provisions does not provide this Court with jurisdiction. *Dykman v. State*, 294 So. 2d 633, 635-36 (Fla. 1973). "Applying is not synonymous with construing; the former is not a basis for [Supreme Court] jurisdiction, while the express construction of a constitutional provision is." *See, Rojas v. State*, 288 So. 2d 234, 236 (Fla. 1973).

This Court has explained that a decision does not expressly construe a constitutional provision as contemplated by the Florida Constitution unless it "undertakes to explain, define, or otherwise eliminate existing doubts arising from the language or terms of the constitutional provision." Ogle v. Pepin, 273 So. 2d 391, 392 (Fla. 1973) (quoting Armstrong v. City of Tampa, 106 So. 2d 407, 409 (Fla. 1958) (reversed on other grounds)). Indeed, the opinion under review must contain a statement recognizing or purporting to resolve some doubt about a constitutional provision. See id. A decision that merely turns on factual applicability does not furnish a basis to invoke discretionary jurisdiction. See P. Padovano, 2 Fla. Prac., Appellate Practice § 3.8 (2007) Rather, for jurisdiction to exist, the opinion must explain or amplify the constitutional provision in a way that is an "evolutionary development in the law." Harry Lee Anstead, Gerald Kogan, Thomas D. Hall & Robert Waters, The Operation and Jurisdiction of the Supreme Court of Florida, 29 Nova L. R. 431, 504-506 (2005).

In this case, the Third District Court of Appeal did not construe the First Amendment or any other provision of the federal constitution. In fact, the Third District merely applied well-settled constitutional principles. The court's analysis was limited to reiterating the longstanding concept of the ecclesiastical abstention doctrine (including the "ministerial exception") and

citing to twenty-five federal and Florida cases supporting its straightforward application to this case.

In addition, Petitioner conceded that she was a ministerial employee. With this concession, the Third District was not required to examine the ministerial exception's applicability but rather could simply apply the well-established principle and case law to Petitioner's claim.

Moreover, Petitioner's reliance on the District Court of Minnesota's decision in Maruani v. AER Services, Inc., 2006 WL 2666302 (Sept. 18, 2006), is utterly misplaced. Contrary to Petitioner's claim that the decision relates to a "whistleblower claim against a religious institution," the court, in holding that the First Amendment did not bar the former employee's whistleblower claim, explicitly found that the defendant-employer was **not** a religious entity. Indeed, the court, throughout the opinion, noted that allowing the whistleblower claim to proceed did not involve excessive entanglement with religion only because the defendant-employer was already found to be a **non-religious entity**. Thus, any limited persuasive value the opinion originally seemed to offer is negated by the obvious distinction of this case: a minister's internal employment dispute. Moreover, there is a plethora of both federal and state case law applying the ministerial exception to retaliatory discharge cases. See Alicea-Hernandez v. Catholic

Bishop of Chicago, 320 F. 3d 698, 703 (7th Cir. 2003) ("[t]he 'ministerial exception' applies without regard to the type of claims being brought"); *EEOC v. Roman Catholic Diocese of Raleigh, NC*, 213 F. 3d 795, 801 (4th Cir. 2000) ("[t]he exception precludes any inquiry whatsoever into the reasons behind a church's ministerial employment decisions"); *Pardue v. Center City Consortium Schools*, 875 A. 2d 669, 673 (D.C. 2005) ("abundant decisional law form this court and others confirms 'the constitutional imperative of governmental non-interference with the ministerial employment decisions of churches"").

Respondent does not dispute that "[r]esolving constitutional doubts is a highly important function because it results in more predictable organic law." *The Operation and Jurisdiction of the Supreme Court of Florida*, at 504-506. As noted by Justice Gerald Kogan, however, no similar purpose is served by the Supreme Court hearing a case that has merely reiterated settled principles. *See id*. Here, the Third District did not take the "evolutionary step" necessary to trigger this Court's limited, discretionary jurisdiction. The decision did not eliminate any existing doubt as to the First Amendment. It merely outlined the relevant, constitutional principles before applying them to this case. Accordingly, Petitioner's request for review

should be denied because it does not present any colorable basis for the exercise of jurisdiction by this Court.

B. The District Court's Decision Does Not Expressly And Directly Conflict With This Court's Prior Decisions.

Despite Petitioner's assertion otherwise, the Third District's decision is consistent with this Court's prior decisions and does not in any way create a conflict.³ Petitioner now claims that the Third District's decision "directly and expressly conflicts" with *Malicki v. Doe*, 814 So. 2d 347 (Fla. 2002), and *Doe v. Evans*, 814 So. 2d 370 (Fla. 2002), which purportedly held that "conduct involving criminal activity is outside the ministerial exception." *See* Petitioner's Jurisdictional Brief at 7.

Petitioner's broad description of those holdings, however, simply fails to recognize this Court's explicit limitations outlined in those opinions. Indeed, while this Court held that the First Amendment could not bar negligent hiring/retention claims brought by third parties against religious institutions, it explicitly limited the decision to third-party tort claims. *See Malicki* at 347. This Court specifically noted that the First Amendment was not applicable to third-party tort claims because they did not involve "internal church matters" such as employment claims brought by ministerial

Petitioner did not include this purported basis for jurisdiction in her Notice To Invoke Discretionary Jurisdiction filed with the Third District Court of Appeal.

employees. *See id* at 355 and 360. Indeed, the *Evans* and *Malicki* holdings were limited to "purely secular disputes between third parties and a . . . religious organization." *See id* at 357.

Here, unlike the claims in *Evans* and *Malicki*, Petitioner's claim is purely an internal employment dispute with a concededly ministerial employee. Thus, the Third District's decision applying the ministerial exception does not conflict with *Evans* or *Malicki* and merely recognizes and respects the distinction between third-party claims and intrachurch disputes already carefully crafted by this Court. Petitioner's tortured reading of *Evans* and *Malicki* is merely an attempt to create conflict jurisdiction where it simply and obviously does not exist. Petitioner should not be permitted to avoid the confines of the Rules of Appellate Procedure simply by the after-the-fact salutary addition of her conflict jurisdiction assertion. Petitioner's request for review should be denied.

C. <u>Even If The Court Were To Find A Jurisdictional Basis For Review</u>, Jurisdiction Should Not Be Exercised.

Even if this Court concludes that it has discretionary jurisdiction over this matter, jurisdiction should not be exercised. The District Court issued a

Moreover, Petitioner to date has not filed a criminal complaint relating to the alleged incident.

thoughtful and well supported opinion, applying principles that have long been established by both Florida state courts and numerous federal courts.

Moreover, Petitioner's underlying whistleblower claim fails to state a cause of action under Florida law. Petitioner bases her whistleblower claim on allegations that she was terminated after complaining to the Respondent that her supervisor assaulted her. Under Florida law, however, the whistleblower statute protects employees who object to an employer's violation of a law, rule or regulation, not complaints about an employee's conduct outside the course and scope of employment. See Fla. Stat. § 448.102; see also Ruiz v. Aerorep Group Corp., 941 So. 2d 505, 507 (3d DCA 2006) (dismissing employee's whistleblower claim based upon allegation that she had objected to supervisor's battery upon her). Here, Petitioner alleges that she complained to the Respondent that her supervisor violated the law by allegedly assaulting her. She does not, as required by the statute, allege that she objected to the **Respondent's** violation of law. Thus, on the merits. Petitioner's claim fails to even state an actionable claim under the Florida Whistleblower Protection Act.

IV. CONCLUSION

The Petitioner does not present any colorable basis for this Court's exercise of its limited jurisdiction and therefore the petition for review should be denied.